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30th July 2010 
 
Urban Planning Outcomes 
PO Box 787 Matraville  
NSW 2036 
 
Attention: Leone McEntee 
 
Dear Leone, 
 
Re:  PROPOSED HOSPITAL EXTENSION NOWRA PARK RESERVE– 
 
In response to your request for research and an opinion regarding the proposed siting of 
the Shoalhaven Cancer Care Centre as an extension of Nowra Hospital facilities into 
adjoining land in Nowra Park, we provide the following information which clarifies the 
establishment of the reserve and its history. 

DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE 

Aboriginal Occupation 

Prior to European settlement the Nowra region was inhabited by the Wodi-Wodi tribe of 
the Yuin nation. The Yuin people occupied land along the New South Wales coast south 
from the Shoalhaven to the Victorian border. The Yuin population was estimated at 11 
000 before white settlement in 17881.  
 

Early European Occupation of the Area 

Survivors of the wreck of the Sydney Cove walked through the area in 1797 and George 
Bass explored it later that year. He followed Seven Mile Beach and crossed the shoals at 
the entrance to the river. Bass named it 'Shoals Haven' (now known as the Crookhaven 
River). 
 
In the following years the area was visited by numerous explorers and surveyors. The 
name Nowra is attributed to Charles Throsby, who in 1821, wrote of a place named 'nou-
woo-ro', an aboriginal word reputedly meaning either 'camping place' or 'black cockatoo'. 
Land grants were made in the region from the 1820s, though settlement in the vicinity of 
the present day town of Nowra did not occur until the 1850s.   
 
According to James Jervis in his history of the Illawarra region, “land for a village had 
been reserved on Nowra Creek, and in 1850 Surveyor Mann was asked to measure 
portion of the reserve for Henry Nickless [which he described as] broken, barren 
country”2. Mann deemed the village reserve unsuitable for the purpose intended. 
Nevertheless the Surveyor General persisted in his plans to provide a village on the 
southern side of the Shoalhaven and instructed Mann to make a survey of the reserve in 

                                                
1 http://about.nsw.gov.au/encyclopedia/article/yuin-people/ 
2 “Illawarra: A Century of History” in Royal Australian Historical Society Journal, Vol 23, 1942, pp237-238 
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1851. A design for the town was subsequently approved and the Sydney Morning Herald 
reported in 1852 that “a site has been fixed upon for a township at Nowra on the 
Shoalhaven River”3.  
 
Bernard Brown noted that the first land sale in the new township was held in April 1855, 
at which time he bought an allotment for £64. The following year a further 25 allotments 
in the Nowra township (half acre blocks) with an upset price of £8 per acre and 21 
suburban allotments (ranging between 1 and 16 acres) priced at £2-4 per acre were 
offered for sale5. Henry Gordon Morton visited the township in January 1857 and 
reported to Alexander Berry that: “there are seven dwellings, with one large 
workshop…They are rather neatly put up, and show more taste in the erection than is 
usually displayed on buildings of that class…[There are] seven families, embracing a 
population of 43 inhabitants, old and young.”6  More town blocks went on sale in Nowra 
in 1857, some selling for £4.  
 
Following two very large floods on the Shoalhaven River, many of the residents of 
neighbouring town Terara moved to Nowra, the latter being situated on higher ground. 
Nowra was firmly established as the primary urban centre in the district in the 1870s 
when the Municipality of Nowra was gazetted in December 1871 with its headquarters in 
the government township; its population in 1871 was 243 but increased to 886 over the 
next ten years. Terara continued to decline in importance when the ferry service ceased 
following the opening of the Shoalhaven River Bridge in 1881, and the coming of the 
railway to Nowra in 1893 (signaling the end of the shipping trade). By 1891 the 
population of Nowra had grown to 1705. Other important developments impacting on the 
subsequent growth of the area include the establishment of a water supply to Nowra in 
1894; the opening of the present courthouse in 1897 and the Nowra police station in 
1900, the establishment of the first factory of the Nowra Co-operative Dairy Company in 
1902; the opening of the United Aborigines Mission with an initial intake of seven 
children in 1908; the unveiling of Cambewarra Lookout in 1910 as a tourist attraction and 
the introduction of electricity to Nowra in 1927. 
 

History and Development of the Subject Site 

The subject site is described as CNO 410. 26 acres of land, adjoining the township to the 
north west of the town centre and bordered by the Shoalhaven River, was dedicated for 
public recreation on 17th October 1876. This reservation comprises the initial portion of 
the subject site and was gazetted along with sites vested in the Municipal Council of 
Nowra for a crossing place, water supply and water reserve (Figure 2). An adjoining 10 
acres, the block immediately south of the initial portion, was dedicated on 26 March 
1886.  The two recreation reserves were amalgamated, comprising 36 acres, and 
proclaimed as “Nowra Park” on 20 December 1887. Simultaneously, a portion of North 
Street was extinguished and incorporated in the newly proclaimed park. Prior to this date 
the block south of Nowra Park (portion 14 of the Town of Nowra) was dedicated as a 
Show Ground and Public Recreation in January 1884. 

                                                
3 Sydney Morning Herald, 5/8/1852, p3 
4 Garden of New South Wales, p253 
5 Sydney Morning Herald, 1856, p? 
6 ibid 
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Figure 1 – Plan of Nowra Township and land grants in Shoalhaven River area submitted to the 
Legislative Assembly, 1859-60 (the plan is oriented east/west). The subject site, comprising 26 acres 
dedicated for public recreation in 1876, is shaded red above. The area shown herein as the ‘Reserve 
for Public Recreation’ is the location of the Nowra Racecourse. 

 Source: Joint Volumes of Papers Presented to the Legislative Council and the Legislative Assembly, 
State Library of NSW 

  
Figure 2 – Notice appearing in the N.S.W. Government Gazette, 20/12/1887.  

Source: Mitchell Library, SLNSW 
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Figure 3 – Portion of Plan of the Town of Nowra, 1887 showing the area proclaimed as Nowra Park 
adjoining the Nowra Showground and Public Recreation. The portion gazetted in 1876 is shaded red 
and the additional portion dedicated in 1886 is shaded blue. 

Source: Mitchell Library, SLNSW 
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Figure 4 – N.S.W. Government Gazette notice, 20/12/1887, p8435.  

Source: Mitchell Library, SLNSW 
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Figure 5 –N.S.W. Government Gazette notice, 25/11/1887, p7908.  

Source: Mitchell Library, SLNSW 
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A further seven acres was added to Nowra Park in 1933 and The Council of the 
Municipality of Nowra as the Trustee of said addition to the Park.  Figure 3 also shows 
an additional seven acres dedicated as Show Ground and Public Recreation in January 
1884.  

 
Figure 6 – Portion of plan of allotments applied for to purchase by the Crown in the Town of Nowra 
showing the reserve.  

Source: Crown Plan 3-1489, LPMA 
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Figure 7 – Plan of Portion 373 showing area cancelled by Crown Plan V 4103.2013, measured for 
hospital site, 1922.  

Source: Crown Plan 3302.2013, LPMA 
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Figure 8 – Plan of Portion 373 showing area of Nowra Park measured for hospital site, 1922. The 
roadway herein called Scenic Drive was revoked from Public Recreation in 1940. 

Source: Crown Plan 3-1489, LPMA 

In 1918 a public meeting was called to open a fund to erect a public hospital in Nowra. 
The following year the Council established a sponsored committee (known as the 
Soldier‟s Memorial Hospital Committee) and they were informed the following year that 
the Council had no objections to erecting a hospital within Nowra Park.  The 
northernmost portion (seven acres) of Nowra Park was surveyed and measured for a 
hospital in 1922. Figures 6 shows the area designated as hospital site as comprising 
„open forest‟ adjoining the 100 feet reservation, whilst there is a quarry beyond that. On 
this same plan, „cricket ground‟ is noted in the other portion of Nowra and according to 
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the Shoalhaven District Cricket Association Inc. “for at least 125 years, cricket has been 
played on this area we now know as the recreation ground”.  
 
A deputation of Nowra residents met with the Chief Secretary, C W Oakes, in October 
1922 to ask that he expedite the construction of a memorial hospital at Nowra. By this 
date some £2000 had been subscribed, in addition to a subsidy promised by the 
Government of £1000. At this meeting Mr Oakes advised the group that “the Hospital 
Advisory Board estimated the cost of constructing the proposed hospital at between 
£7000 and £8000”; the discrepancy between the sum raised and the estimated cost of 
construction ruled building the proposed hospital “out of the question”7. 
 

 
Figure 9 – Sydney Morning Herald, 17/9/1923, p10. 

With the question of building a memorial hospital dismissed by the Government for the 
time being, attention turned to the question of applying the funds subscribed for other 
memorial purposes (Figure 8). In 1929 the Master in Equity approved in principle plans 
for the funds to be used to erect a memorial arch and gates at the entrance to Nowra 
Park in Junction Street8. The Court found in favour of the proposed scheme in 1930 
(Figure 9) and the arch and gates were officially opened by Rear-Admiral Evans on 22 
January 1931 (Figure 10). 

                                                
7 

Sydney Morning Herald, 20/10/1922, p10 
8 

Sydney Morning Herald, 6/9/1930, p12 
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Figure 10 – Sydney Morning Herald, 6/9/1930, p12 
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Figure 11 – Soldiers Memorial Gates and Arch at the entrance to Nowra Park, c.2010.  

Source: www.skp.com.au/memorials2/images/p20680.jpg 

 
In the interim Nowra residents were provided health services at several private „cottage‟ 
hospitals, including Shoalhaven Private Hospital (Bridge Road, Nowra), St Bede‟s 
(Osborne Street, Nowra), Queenwood (Worrigee Street, Nowra), Booran (Jervis Street, 
Nowra), Elston (Plunkett Street, Nowra) and Edman House (maternity) in Junction 
Street, Nowra. The nearest public hospital was the David Berry Hospital in Tannery 
Road, Berry. 
 
In 1942 the Council formed a new committee to renew the community‟s demand for the 
provision of a hospital in Nowra suitable to the district size. Eventually in 1946 the 
Government set aside a site for a hospital in accordance with the 1922 survey of the 
northern portion of Nowra Park (Figure 7) wherein seven acres was revoked and 
rededicated for a hospital. The Minister for Health announced that a 60-bed hospital was 
to be erected in 1947. By 1949 the Nowra community was extremely dissatisfied at the 
“failure of the Government to provide the 60-bed hospital promised by the Minister for 
Health, approved by gazette but not placed on estimates”9 and called on the government 
to immediately take over the Shoalhaven Private Hospital as a subsidised public 
hospital10. The Shoalhaven District Memorial Hospital temporary hospital would 
eventually be opened in 1951, though the decision to build a 90-bed brick hospital was 
not approved until 1956. The permanent Shoalhaven District Memorial Hospital was 
erected and opened in 1958. 
 

                                                
9 

Sydney Morning Herald, 28/1/1949, p4 
10

 Sydney Morning Herald, 31/5/1949, p5 

http://www.skp.com.au/memorials2/images/p20680.jpg
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Figure 12 – Aerial view of Nowra District Memorial Hospital and Nowra Park, adjoining the 
Shoalhaven River, about 2010.  

Source: 
http://www.shoalhaven.nsw.gov.au/region/images/econodev/NOWRA%20HOSPITAL%20991210.JPG 

 
Conclusion 
It can be seen from the above information that the Nowra Park land in question is not 
part of the earlier Reserve dedicated in 1855 but is a later reservation dating from 1876 
the northern portion of which has been occupied by the Nowra Hospital since 1946. This 
research shows that claims that this was the first parkland declared in NSW and possibly 
the first in Australia are unfounded. 
 
The Park is nevertheless a significant environmental element in the structure of the town 
and is sensitive from a landscape character point of view. New development of the type 
proposed should take into consideration the landscape qualities of the perimeter of the 
parkland and adopt strategies to limit the visual impacts of development through 
appropriate landscape works. Additionally it would be appropriate for the evolution of the 
site to be appropriately interpreted for public understanding. 
 
We trust this clarifies the situation and would be happy to discuss any further 
implications of the proposal with you if required. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
NBRS+PARTNERS 

 
ROBERT STAAS 
Director / Heritage Consultant 


